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L. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Nina L. Martin, individually and as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Donald R. Martin, Russell L. Martin, Thaddeus J. Martin, and
Jane Martin (the Martin family) ask this Court to accept review of the
published Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part
B of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion, filed October 14, 2013, is
in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-25. A copy of the Order Granting
Motion to Publish Opinion, filed January 9, 2014, is in the Appendix at
pages A-26 through A-27.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The applicable limitations period does not begin to run until a
claim accrues, and a claim does not normally accrue until the
plaintiff discovers all facts giving rise to the claim. In Orear v.
International Paint Co., 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990),
rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1024 (1991), the Court of Appeals held
that knowledge of a defendant’s identity is necessary for accrual.
In the decision below, the court held that the Martin family’s
claims against a corporate defendant accrued before they
discovered its identity as the successor to the company that
installed a machine that killed their husband and father. Is the
decision below erroneous?

2. Once the plaintiff has filed the summons and complaint and served
them on one defendant, RCW 4.16.070 tolls the applicable
limitations period as to all remaining defendants. In Sidis v. Brodie
Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 331, 815 P.2d 781 (1991), this
Court stated that tolling under this statute would apply to unnamed
or fictitiously named “John Doe” or “ABC Corporation”



defendants “if identified with reasonable particularity.” In Powers
v. W.B. Mobile Services, Inc., 177 Wn. App. 208, 311 P.2d 58
(2013), the Court of Appeals followed the Sidis dictum and tolled
the limitations period as to a fictitiously named “John Doe”
defendant. In the decision below, the court declined to recognize
the Sidis dictum, and held that the limitations period applicable to
the Martin family’s claims was not tolled as to the corporate
successor of a company named in their original complaint. Is the
decision below erroneous?

3. A nonparty amendment relates back to the date of the original
complaint for purposes of the applicable limitations period as long
as it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence described in
the complaint. Does an amendment identifying the corporate
successor of a company named in the original complaint change
the party against whom a claim is asserted? Or, does it merely
correct a misnomer regarding the name of the party against whom
the claim is asserted?

4, In order for an amendment changing the party against whom a
claim is asserted to relate back to the date of the original complaint
for purposes of the applicable limitations period, there must be a
lack of “inexcusable neglect.” In Perrin v. Stensland, 158 Wn.
App. 185, 201-02, 240 P.3d 1198 (2010), the Court of Appeals
equated inexcusable neglect with “a strategic choice rather than a
mistake.” In the decision below, the court equated inexcusable
neglect with a lack of knowledge regarding a series of complex
and non-public corporate mergers and acquisitions. Is the decision
below erroneous?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A, Background Facts.
On August 13, 2004, Donald Martin was working at a pulp mill in
Everett, Washington, where he had been employed for the previous 15
years. A dipping conveyor used to make tissue paper was inadvertently

lowered onto Mr. Martin while he was doing his job, performing a



standard procedure to clean paper out of a chute located below the
conveyor. The conveyor crushed him against the chute and caused his
death. Mr. Martin’s wife, Nina, and his children Russell, Thaddeus and
Jane (collectively the “Martin family”), filed this wrongful death and
survival action against those believed to be responsible for his death.
CP 3576-85.

The dipping conveyor was installed in 1980-81, and the company
responsible for the installation, known as Wright Schuchart Harbor
Company (“WSH”), no longer exists as a separate entity. Its assets were
sold to General Construction Company (“General Construction™) in 1996,
and, through a series of mergers occurring both before and after the sale, it
has been incorporated into Fletcher Construction Company North America
(“FCCNA™). CP 2450-53 & 2792.

In their original complaint, the Martin family named General
Construction as a defendant, alleging that it was formerly known and/or
conducted business as WSH. CP 3576-85. After they learned of the non-
public asset sale and mergers involving WSH in the course of discovery
and litigation, they amended their complaint to identify FCCNA as a
corporate successor in interest to WSH. CP 2402-08. The superior court
dismissed the claims against FCCNA on summary judgment, based on the

statute of limitations, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.



B. Chronology of Events.
For purposes of this Petition, the following chronology of events is
relevant:

1980-81: WSH installs the machinery that later kills Donald
Martin. CP 2437-2438 & 2792. At the time, WSH is owned by a
company called Wright Schuchart Inc. CP 2438, 2451.

1987: A subsidiary of a large multinational corporation involved in
industrial construction, known as Fletcher Challenge, purchases
Wright Schuchart Inc. (and thereby, WSH). CP 2438, 2451.

1993: Fletcher Challenge merges several subsidiaries, including
WSH, into a company known as Fletcher General. CP 2438.
Fletcher General succeeds to the liabilities of WSH and continues
to do business in industrial construction. CP 2438 & 2451-52.

1996: General Construction acquires the assets of Fletcher
General. CP 2472-2508."

2001: What remains of Fletcher General following the asset sale is
merged into FCCNA. CP 401.

August 13, 2004: Donald Martin is killed.

June 29, 2007: The Martin family files their original complaint,
identifying General Construction and WSH as responsible parties,
but not FCCNA. CP 3572-85.

July 5, 2007: The Martin family serves General Construction.
CP 398.

July 24, 2007: Unknown to the Martin family, General
Construction tenders the defense of the Martin family’s claims to
Fletcher General. CP 62-63.

November 28, 2007: Long before being identified by the Martin
family as a successor to WSH, FCCNA forwards the tender letter

' There are actually several companies named “General Construction” or “General
Construction Company” in the record. CP 2241-42, 2438, 2451, 2665-66 & 2719-20.



from General Construction to its insurer, acknowledging that it is
the successor to WSH. CP 401-02.2

December 11, 2009: General Construction files a motion for
summary judgment, indicating that FCCNA is a successor to
WSH. CP 2436-49 (esp. CP 2439-40 re: FCCNA).}

January 6, 2010: Shortly after discovering that FCCNA is a
successor to WSH, the Martin family amends their complaint to
include FCCNA. CP 2409-10.

C. Summary Judgment Proceedings.

FCCNA moved for summary judgment based on the statute of
limitations. CP 741-57. The company argued that, since the amendment to
the Martin family’s complaint identifying it as a successor to WSH did not
occur until more than three years after Donald Martin’s death, the relevant
limitations period had expired. CP 742. The company further argued that
the amendment did not relate back to the date of the original complaint for
statute of limitations purposes. CP 743-44.

In connection with its motion, FCCNA did not disclose that
General Construction had tendered defense of the Martin family’s claims
(without the knowledge of the Martin family) within less than three years
after Donald Martin’s death. Instead, FCCNA stated “[t]here is no

evidence in the record that FCCNA received notice of this claim by

% The letters from General Construction to Fletcher General, CP 62-63, and from FCCNA
to its insurer, CP 401-02, are reproduced in the Appendix, at A-28 to A-31.

’ The Martin family’s claims against General Construction have been dismissed and are
not the subject of this review.



August 13, 2007, within the 3-year statute of limitations.” CP 743.

In response to FCCNA’s motion, the Martin family contended that
their claim against FCCNA did not accrue until they discovered its
identity, that the statute of limitations was tolled under RCW 4.16.170
upon service of the summons and complaint on the other defendants, and
that it was not really a new party in light of the mergers going back to
WSH. They also argued that the amendment related back to the date of
their original complaint. The superior court rejected these arguments, and
granted FCCNA’s motion. CP 133-35.

After the superior court granted FCCNA’s motion, the Martin
family learned of General Construction’s tender of defense. As it turns
out, the tender letter was sent via fax and Federal Express on July 24,
2007—Iess than three years after Donald Martin’s death. CP 62-63. On a
motion for reconsideration, the Martin family highlighted this newly
discovered evidence. CP 50-58. The superior court considered this
evidence, but denied the motion. CP 46-49. The Court of Appeals
subsequently affirmed.

V1. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in
conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Here, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with three other



decisions of the Court of Appeals, regarding accrual of the Martin family’s

claim, tolling of the applicable limitations period, and application of the

statute of limitations to amendments to their complaint. Any one of these

conflicts would be sufficient to justify granting review.

A. The decision below conflicts with Orear v. International Paint
Co., which holds that actual or constructive knowledge of a

defendant’s identity is necessary for a cause of action against
that defendant to accrue.

The applicable limitations period does not begin to run until a
claim accrues, and a claim does not normally accrue until the plaintiff
discovers or should have discovered all facts giving rise to the claim. See
Orear v. International Paint Co., 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990),
rev. denied, 116 Wn. 2d 1024 (1991). In Orear, the Court of Appeals held
that knowledge of a defendant’s identity is necessary for the plaintiff’s
cause of action against that defendant to accrue. Id.,, 59 Wn. App. at 253-
57.

Here, the Martin family was unaware of the identity of FCCNA as
the successor to WSH until the month before amending its complaint.
Under the accrual principles delineated in Orear, the amendment occurred
within the applicable limitations period. However, the Court of Appeals
declined to apply Orear, attempting to distinguish it on grounds that it

“was a products liability case where the connection between the plaintiff’s



latent injury and the allegedly defective product was ‘difficult to trace.””
Appendix, at A-13.*

The fact that Orear involved a product liability claim does not
distinguish it from this case. Orear applied its holding both under the
general personal injury statute of limitations and the product liability
statute of limitations.” The court phrased its holding in terms that are not
confined to the product liability context.® The court relied on non-product

liability cases within’ and outside of Washington® to support its holding.

* The Court of Appeals is simply wrong when it states that the Martin family could have
identified FCCNA as a successor to WSH as a matter of public record. Appendix, at A-
14. None of the records referenced by the court refer to WSH, let alone connect the dots
between WSH and FCCNA. See CP 722-27 (1976 articles of incorporation of “Wright
Schuchart, Inc.,” containing no reference to WSH); CP 729 (1993 certificate of
amendment changing name of Wright Schuchart, Inc. to “Fletcher General, Inc.,”
containing no reference to WSH); CP 731 (2001 articles of merger, merging Fletcher
General, Inc., into FCCNA, containing no reference to WSH). In its appellate briefing,
FCCNA also pointed to a 1993 newspaper article and an undated internet website
printout to establish constructive knowledge of the relationship between WSH and
FCCNA., See FCCNA Resp. Br., at 7. The newspaper and the website both refer to WSH
and entities with “Fletcher” in the name, but neither mentions FCCNA. CP 733-34
(newspaper article); CP 736-37 (website); see also Martin Reply Br., at 40-41 (discussing
same).

3 See Orear, 59 Wn. App. at 252 & nn.1-2 (quoting RCW 4.16.080(2) & 7.72.060); id. at
257 (concluding “the statutes of limitations applicable to Orear’s cause of action against
Seaport did not begin to run until he knew or with reasonable diligence should have
known that Seaport may have been a responsible party”). It appears that the general
personal injury statute of limitations was applicable because at least some of the relevant
events occurred before the effective date of the Washington Product Liability Act.

® See Orear, at 255 (stating “[a]lthough no Washington court has explicitly decided
whether knowledge or imputed knowledge of a particular defendant’s identity is
necessary for the plaintiff’s cause of action against that defendant to accrue, we hold that
such knowledge is necessary, absent countervailing statutory language™).

7 See Orear, at 253-54 (discussing Ruth v. Dight, 75 Wn. 2d 660, 453, P.2d 531 (1969)
(medical malpractice); Ohler v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp., 92 Wn.2d 507, 598 P.2d 1358
(1970) (medical malpractice and product liability)).

¥ See Orear, at 256-57 (citing Spitler v. Dean, 436 N.W.2d 308 (Wis. 1989) (assault and
battery); Meyers v. Larreategui, 509 N.E2d 971 (Ohio App. 1986) (medical



Significantly, Orear specifically disapproved of non-product liability
cases that declined to base accrual upon discovery of the defendant’s
identity.” In any event, in this case the Martin family has alleged product
liability claims against FCCNA. CP 2402-08 (1st amended compl., esp.
3.4-3.7); CP 616-24 (2d amended compl., esp. 19 3.7-3.10).

The fact that the identity of the defendant who manufactured the
allegedly defective product in Orear was “difficult to trace” does not
distinguish it from this case either. The plaintiff in Orear was fully aware
of what caused his injury (exposure to epoxy paints and solvents at work)
and when he was injured (between 1980 and 1985), but the passage of
time obscured the identity of the company that manufactured and/or sold
the product that caused his injury. See 59 Wn. App. at 250-52. In an
analogous way, the passage of time and a series of complex and non-
public mergers and acquisitions obscured the identity of FCCNA as the

successor to the company that manufactured and sold the product that

malpractice); Foster v. Harris, 633 S.W.2d 304 (Tenn. 1982) (medical malpractice);
Adams v. Oregon St. Police, 611 P.2d 1153 (Or. 1980) (auto accident); Mullinax v.
McElhenney, 817 F.2d 711 (11™ Cir. 1987) (civil rights); Royal Indem. Co. v. Petrozzino,
598 F.2d 816 (3" Cir. 1979) (conversion); Autocephalous Greek-Orthodox Church v.
Goldberg & Feldman Fine Arts Inc., 717 F. Supp. 1374 (S.D. Ind. 1989) (conversion);
O Keeffe v. Snyder, 416 A.2d 862 (N.J. 1980) (conversion)).

? See Orear, at 256 n.4 (disapproving Smith v. Sinai Hosp., 394 N.W.2d 82 (Mich. App.
1986) (medical malpractice); Guebard v. Jabaay, 381 N.E.2d 1164 (Ill. App. 1978)
(same)).



caused Donald Martin’s injury. The reason why the identity of the
defendant is difficult to trace should not be material.'®
This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court
of Appeals regarding whether knowledge of the identity of the defendant
is necessary for accrual of a claim.
B. The decision below conflicts with Powers v. W.B. Mobile
Services, Inc., which holds that service on one defendant tolls

the applicable limitations period as to unnamed defendants
identified in the complaint with reasonable particularity.

Assuming that a claim has accrued, the applicable limitations
period stops running when an action has been commenced. RCW
4.16.070. Filing the summons and complaint with the court tolls the
limitations period for 90 days to accomplish service. Id. Service on one
defendant within that time frame effectively commences the action and
tolls the limitations period beyond 90 days as to all remaining defendants.
Sidis v. Brodie Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 329-30, 815 P.2d 781
(1991). This rule gives plaintiffs in multi-defendant actions extra
protection from the harsh effects of the statute of limitations, and avoids
the unfairness that would result from requiring them to serve all

defendants within the limitations period. Id., 117 Wn.2d at 330. The Court

' See Allyn v. Boe, 87 Wn. App. 722, 736-37, 943 P.2d 364 (1997) (applying Orear to
timber trespass case where defendant denied cutting down trees), rev. denied, 134 Wn.2d
1020 (1998); Iwai v. State, 76 Wn. App. 308, 312, 884 P.2d 936 (1994) (applying Orear
to premises liability case, but finding constructive notice of identity of lessee of property
based on public record), aff’'d, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996).

10



applied this rule with respect to named defendants in Sidis, and stated that
the same rule would also apply to unnamed or fictitiously named “John
Doe” or “ABC Corporation” defendants “if identified with reasonable
particularity.” 117 Wn.2d at 331.

The Martin family argued that naming a corporate defendant
(Wright Schuchart Harbor Company) that has been merged into another
(FCCNA) should satisfy the requirement to identify the successor
corporation with reasonable particularity and thereby obtain the benefit of
the Sidis tolling rule. See Martin App. Br., at 32-34; Martin Reply Br., at
42-43. Under applicable corporate law, the successor corporation has all
the liabilities of its predecessors. See RCW 23B.11.060(1)(c). Under the
circumstances of the case, naming Wright Schuchart Harbor Company as
a defendant in the complaint prompted one of the other defendants to
notify FCCNA of its successor liability (albeit without the knowledge of
the Martin family). CP 62-63, 401-02.

Division I of the Court of Appeals rejected the Martin family’s
argument and declined to follow the Sidis dictum regarding tolling as to
unnamed defendants, stating:

No court in Washington court has explicitly stated that the

Sidis dictum is law or recognized the statute of limitations

as being tolled as to a defendant who is neither named in
the complaint nor served within the limitations period.

11



Appendix, at A-18. However, two days after the court issued its decision,
Division II followed the Sidis dictum and held that service upon a named
defendant tolled the statute of limitations as to a fictitiously named “John
Doe” defendant. See Powers v. W.B. Mobile Services, Inc., 177 Wn. App.
208,311 P.3d 58 (2013)."

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court
of Appeals regarding whether the Sidis dictum should be followed, and to
clarify the circumstances under which the statute of limitations is tolled as
to an unnamed defendant.

C. The decision below conflicts with Perrin v. Stensland, which
holds that a party amendment relates back unless the original

failure to name the party was the result of a strategic choice as
opposed to a mistake.

Assuming the Martin family’s claims against FCCNA had accrued,
and also assuming that the statute of limitations was not tolled, the Martin
family’s amendment to their complaint relates back to the date of their
original filing for purposes of the statute of limitations under CR 15(c).
The rule provides:

Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended
pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or

" See also Bresina v. Ace Paving Co., 89 Wn. App. 277, 281-82, 948 P.2d 870 (1997)
(assuming “a plaintiff can toll the period for suing an unnamed defendant by filing and
serving a named defendant—if, but only if, the plaintiff identifies the unnamed defendant
with ‘reasonable particularity™ in reliance on Sidis), rev. denied 135 Wn.2d 1010
(1998); Iwai, 76 Wn. App. at 312 (seeming to follow the Sidis dictum, but finding it
inapplicable).
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occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the
original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of
the original pleading. An amendment changing the party
against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the
foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period
provided by law for commencing the action against him,
the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received
such notice of the institution of the action that he will not
be prejudiced in maintaining his defense on the merits, and
(2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake
concerning the identity of the proper party, the action
would have been brought against him.

In addition to notice of the claim within the limitations period (subsection
1 of the rule) and actual or constructive knowledge that the party was
mistakenly omitted (subsection 2), case law imposes an additional
requirement based upon a lack of “inexcusable neglect” for amendments
changing the party against whom a claim is asserted. See Perrin v.
Stensland, 158 Wn. App. 185, 197-202, 240 P.3d 1189 (2010)."

Here, it cannot be disputed that FCCNA had notice of the Martin
family’s complaint within the limitations period, even if their claim

against the company had accrued prior to discovery and was not tolled

2 An amendment identifying the successor to a corporation named in the original
complaint should not be considered a change of the party against whom a claim is
asserted within the meaning of CR 15(c). See DeSantis v. Angelo Merlino & Sons, Inc.,
71 Wn. 2d 222, 222-25, 427 P.2d 728 (1967) (holding amendment correcting name of
corporate defendant erroneously identified as a proprietorship related back for purposes
of the statute of limitations under the predecessor rule to CR 15(c), based on the “identity
of interest” between the principals of the alleged proprietorship and the corporate
defendant); see also Bailey v. Innovative Mgmt. & Inv., Inc., 890 S.W.2d 648, 651 (Mo.
1995) (holding amendment identifying successor corporation related back under
requirements for a non-party amendment); Mitchell v. CFC Financial LLC, 230 F.R.D.
548 (E.D. Wis. 2005) (similar).
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after filing and service on the other defendants. CP 62-63 & 401-402. This
satisfies the notice requirement of CR 15(c)(1).

Likewise, based on the identification of its predecessor, WSH, in
the original complaint and the tender of defense, it cannot be disputed that
FCCNA had at least constructive knowledge that it was mistakenly
omitted from the original complaint. This satisfies the mistake requirement
of CR 15(c)(2)."?

With respect to the final requirement for relation back, inexcusable
neglect is limited to cases where the failure to name a defendant is likely
the result of “a strategic choice rather than a mistake.” Perrin, 158 Wn.
App. at 201-02. Thus, the court in Perrin held that a plaintiff who failed to
name the estate of a deceased defendant did not act with inexcusable
neglect because he did not know that the decedent was, in fact, dead, even
though he had received notice of the death in the return of service and
interrogatory answers. See id. at 190.

As in Perrin, the failure to identify FCCNA as the corporate
successor to WSH in the original complaint filed by the Martin family in

this case was not the result of a strategic choice. They simply did not

" The Court of Appeals below incorrectly suggests there was no knowledge of the
mistake because the company that installed the machine that killed Donald Martin may
have been Wright Schuchart Harbor Joint Venture rather than Wright Schuchart Harbor
Company. This suggestion is incorrect, and it is addressed at length, with record citations,
in the Martin family’s reply brief. See Martin Reply Br., at 35-37.
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know that FCCNA was a successor, given the cofnplex series of non-
public mergers and acquisitions over an extended period of time.
However, in contrast to Perrin, the Court of Appeals below faulted the
Martin family for what they did not know, without considering whether
the failure to name FCCNA in the original complaint was the result of a
 strategic choice. Appendix, st A-22t0 A-23.% T

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court
of Appeals between the standard for inexcusable neglect applied in Perrin
and the standard applied below. |

VII. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Martin Family respectfully asks the
Court to reverse and vacate the superior court’s summary judgment and
recohsideration orders in favor of FCCNA on its ‘statute of limitations
defense.

Respectfully submitted this 10th day of February, 2014.

THE BUDLONG LAW FIRM AHREND ALBRECHT PLLC _
G By: Johit Budlong By: George M. Ahrend
"N WSBA #12594 WSBA #25160

Attorneys for Petitioners

' The Court of Appeals also repeats the incorrect statement that the relationship between
WSH and FCCNA is a matter of public record. See Appendix, at A-23 to A-24. This
statement is addressed in footnote 4, above.
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NINA L. MARTIN, individually and NO. 68132-0-1
as Personal Representative of the
ESTATE OF DONALD R. MARTIN, DIVISION ONE
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FLETCHER BUILDING, LTD.,
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LeacH, C.J. — Donald Martin suffered a fatal injury while working at a
Kimberly Clark paper plant. His wife and children (collectively “the Martins”)
appeal the ftrial court's summary dismissal of their claims against General
Construction Company (General Construction) and Fletcher Construction
Company North America (FCCNA). General Construction cross appeals,

challenging the trial court’s denial of two summary judgment motions.
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Because General Construction did not assume liability for the Martins’
claims and the statute of limitations barred the claims against FCCNA, we affirm
the trial court's dismissal of Martins’ claims against General Construction and
FCCNA. Because a trial court's decision denying a motion for summary
judgment does not constitute a final judgment, we do not address General
Construction’s cross appeal.

FACTS

On August 13, 2004, a component of Tissue Machine No. 5 (TM5) at
Kimberly Clark’'s Everett paper plant fatally crushed Donald Martin. The TM5
was installed as part of a large construction project in 1981 when Scott Paper
owned the plant. Wright Schuchart Harbor Co. (WSH) erected the TM5.

The parties dispute WSH's identity and ownership history. General
Construction asserts the following history. At the time of the TM5 installation,
Wright Schuchart Inc. owned WSH. In 1987, Fletcher Construction Company
Ltd., a subsidiary of FCCNA, purchased Wright Schuchart Inc. At the time,
FCCNA was a subsidiary of Fletcher Challenge, a multinationa! corporation
involved in industrial construction. In 1993, Fletcher Challenge merged
numerous subsidiaries, including WSH, into a single company, Fletcher General

Inc. Fletcher General succeeded to WSH's preexisting liabilities.
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In 1996, senior management of Fletcher General formed GC Investment
Co. for the purpose of acquiring the majority of Fletcher General's assets. To
complete this acquisition, Fletcher General transferred these assets to a wholly
owned subsidiary, General Construction, and in exchange received all the
outstanding stock of General. Fletcher General sold this stock to GC Investment.
Their stock purchase agreement incorporated as exhibits a memorandum of
transfer of assets for capital contribution purposes and two memoranda of
assumption of liabilities executed by Fletcher General and General Construction
to accomplish the asset transfer to General Construction. Both the stock
purchase agreement and the memoranda of assumption of liabilities, in virtually
identical language, defined and allocated “assumed liabilities,” which General
Construction acquired, and “excluded liabilities,” which Fletcher General retained.
Fletcher General agreed to indemnify General Construction for excluded
liabilities.

In 2001, Fletcher General and Fletcher Construction Company Ltd.
merged into FCCNA. Following the merger, Generai Construction and FCCNA
agreed that FCCNA would continue to exist until at least 2006 and maintain a
minimum bond or level of assets to cover its potential liabilities. FCCNA filed a

certificate of dissolution on June 26, 2007.

A-3
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FCCNA asserts that “Wright Schuchart Harbor Joint Venture,” a “separate
and distinct corporate legal entity” from Wright Schuchart Inc. or Wright
Schuchart Company, installed TM5." In interrogatories, Ronald Johnson,

FCCNA's records custodian, stated,

The entities which previously comprised of Wright Schuchart
Harbor Joint Venture had changed their names as necessary and
were transferred to Sprague Resources Corporation as dividends
by June 30, 1987 prior to the sale of Wright Schuchart, Inc. to
Fletcher. Thus, these entities were not included in the sale of
Wright Schuchart, Inc. to Fletcher in October 1987.

Johnson also testified that the joint venture “would be labeled Wright Schuchardt
[sic] Harbor, a joint venture, or sometimes it was labeled just Wright Schuchardt
[sic] Harbor. And that joint venture was owned by several different entities, which
did not include Wright Schuchardt, [sic] Incorporated.”

On June 29, 2007, the Martins filed this wrongful death and survival action
against defendants that the Martins alleged were responsible for Mr. Martin's
death, including “General Construction Company dba/fka Wright Schuchart
Harbor Company.” The compiaint did not name FCCNA as a defendant. On
October 19, 2007, General Construction answered the Martins’ complaint and

asserted third party claims against Fletcher General and Fletcher Pacific

' FCCNA did not raise this argument in its motion to dismiss, but the court
referred to it in granting the dismissal.

2 The record does not contain the equipment erection contract. We do not
resolve the conflicting histories but use “WSH" to refer to whichever entity
installed the TM5.

4-
A-4



NO. 68132-0-1/5

Construction Company Ltd. (Fletcher Pacific). On December 11, 2009, General
Construction moved for summary judgment, asserting that it was not liable as a
successor to WSH. The trial court denied the motion on March 16, 2010.

The Martins filed an amended complaint on January 22, 2010, joining
FCCNA as a defendant. In its answer to the amended complaint, FCCNA raised
the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense.

On April 8, 2010, the Martins moved for summary judgment to establish
General Construction’s liability as a successor to WSH and Fletcher General.
The court denied this motion. On October 1, 2010, General Construction filed a
renewed motion for summary judgment based on the lack of successor liability.
The trial court granted this motion and denied the Martins' subsequent motion for
reconsideration.

On November 23, 2010, FCCNA moved to dismiss, arguing that “the
statute of limitations for plaintiffs’ claims against this defunct corporation had
expired by January 2010 when FCCNA was added as a party to this lawsuit.”
The court granted the motion on January 13, 2011, and denied the Martins'
subsequent motion for reconsideration. It concluded that the Martins’ amended
complaint did not relate back to the date of the original complaint under CR 15(c).

The Martins appeal, and General Construction cross appeals.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review summary judgment orders de novo, engaging in the same
inquiry as the trial court.> Summary judgment is proper if, viewing the facts and
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, no
genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment
as a matter of law.* A genuine issue of material fact exists if reasonable minds
could differ about the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation.®

In reviewing summary judgment orders, we consider supporting affidavits
and other admissible evidence based upon the affiant's personal knowledge.® “A
party may not rely on mere allegations, denials, opinions, or conclusory
statements, but, rather must set forth specifics indicating material facts for trial.””
We review the denial of a motion for reconsideration for abuse of discretion.®

ANALYSIS
The Martins raise two sets of issues. First, the Martins assert that General

Construction assumed successor liability for WSH's torts under the stock

° Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 148 Wn.2d 788, 794, 64 P.3d 22
(2003).

* CR 56(c); Michak, 148 Wn.2d at 794-95.

® Hulbert v. Port of Everett, 159 Wn. App. 389, 398, 245 P.3d 779, review
denied, 171 Wn.2d 1024 (2011).

® Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 122 Wn. App. 736,
744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004).

7 Int'l Utimate, Inc., 122 Wn. App. at 744.

® Brinnon Grp. v. Jefferson County, 159 Wn. App. 446, 485, 245 P.3d 789
(2011) (citing Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 321, 945 P.2d 727 (1997)).

-6-
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purchase agreement and memoranda of assumption of liabilities. Second, the
Martins assert that the statute of limitations does not bar their claims against
FCCNA because those claims did not accrue until the Martins discovered
FCCNA's identity as WSH's successor, that the filing and serving of the original
summons and complaint tolled the statute of limitations, and that the amended
complaint related back to the date of the original complaint for purposes of the
statute of limitations. We disagree.

Successor Liability

The Martins claim that General Construction “expressly assumed liability
for tort claims such as those alleged by the Martin family under the terms of the
Stock Purchase Agreement and the two Memoranda of Assumption of Liabilities”
with Fletcher General, WSH's successor. In Washington, a corporation
purchasing another corporation’s assets generally "does not, by reason of the
purchase of assets, become liable for the debts and liabilities of the selling
corporation.” This rule does not apply if “the purchaser expressly or impliedly
agrees to assume liability.”'® Martin claims that this exception applies here.

The stock purchase agreement stated that General Construction would, as

of the organization date, assume “all of the Assumed Liabilities to which Seller

% Creech v. AGCO Corp., 133 Wn. App. 681, 684, 138 P.3d 623 (2006)
(citing Hall v. Armstrong Cork, Inc., 103 Wn.2d 258, 261, 692 P.2d 787 (1984)).
' Creech, 133 Wn. App. at 684 (citing Hall, 103 Wn.2d at 261-62).

A-7
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was subject as of the Organization Date.” (Emphasis added.) The agreement

also stated that, at closing, General Construction “shall assume from Seller all
additional Assumed Liabilities to which Seller becomes subject between the
Organization Date and the Closing Date.” The organization date was October
10, 1996, and the closing date was October 17, 1996. The stock purchase
agreement required General Construction to deliver two separate “memorand|a]
of assumption of liabilities” at closing, one effective as of the organization date
and the other effective as of the closing date.

The stock purchase agreement defined “assumed liabilities”:

“Assumed Liabilities” means the obligations, liabilities and
expenses of Seller or General included in clauses (i) through (ix)
below, except to the extent any such obligations, liabilities and
expenses are covered by insurance, held by Seller with respect to
events occurring prior to Closing, in which case they shall constitute
Excluded Liabilities:

(iiiy All extraordinary liabilities of Seller or General incurred
outside the ordinary course of business of Seller or General
after July 1, 1996 and that are not accounted for as project
costs under any Pre 7/23 Bonded Jobs in accordance with
Seller's existing project accounting practices, including,
without limitation:

(A) all liabilities and obligations arising out of,
resulting from, or relating to claims, whether founded
upon negligence, strict liability in tort, and/or other
similar legal theory, seeking compensation or
recovery for or relating to injury to person or damage
to property with respect to the operation of the
Business;

A-8
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provided, that, the Assumed Liabilities shall not include any
extraordinary liabilities of Seller incurred by Seller after the
Closing with respect to the portion of the Business retained
by Seller, or any other activities of Seller unrelated to the
Business.

The agreement also defined “excluded liabilities,” which included “[a]ll obligations
or liabilties of the Business, Seller or any of its Affiliates of any nature
whatsoever, arising with respect to any acts, actions, omissions, or events
occurring prior to July 1, 1996.”

Both memoranda of assumption of liabilities defined “assumed” and
“excluded” liabilities similar to the stock purchase agreement. The memoranda

also stated,

General Construction Company . ..does hereby assume
and accept from Fletcher General, Inc., ...the liabilities and
obligations described on the attached Schedule A (the
“Assumption,” the liabilities and obligations described on attached
Schedule A being the “Assumed Liabilities”). No assumption or
acceptance of the liabilities or obligations described on attached
Schedule B (the “Excluded Liabilities”) is intended or is hereby
effected.

The Martins argue that the phrase “to which Seller was subject” in the
stock purchase agreement description of assumed liabilities includes “inchoate or
contingent future liabilities.” They assert, “The Organization Date Memorandum
of Assumption of Liabilities ... does not limit the assumption to only those

liabilities incurred between July 1, 1996, and the Organization or Closing Dates.’

The Martins contend, “To harmonize these provisions of the agreement and give

-0-
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effect to all of them,” the stock purchase agreement “should be understood as
applying to the organizational phase of the transaction rather than
closing, . . . and the meaning of the phrase ‘subject to’ should be understood as
including both existing and future liabilities.”

General Construction claims that it assumed only “(1) liabilities to which
Fletcher General was subject as of October 10, 1996 (the Organization Date),
and (2) additional liabilities to which Fletcher General became subject between
October 10, 1996 (the Organization Date) and October 17, 1996 (the Closing
Date).” Because Mr. Martin died in 2004, General Construction did not assume
liability for his death.

We conclude that General Construction did not assume liability for the
Martins’ claims. Because Mr. Martin's injuries occurred in 2004, Fletcher
General was not subject to these claims at any time before the closing of the
stock sale. Thus, the Martins’ claims do not satisfy the definition of “assumed
liabilities.” The Martins offer no authority to support their contrary interpretation.

Additionally, if we accept the Martins’ construction of the phrase “to which
Seller was subject,” their claims fall squarely within the definition of “excluded

" ou

liabilities.” This definition included as “excluded liabilities” “[a]ll obligations or

liabilities of the Business, Seller or any of its Affiliates of any nature whatsoever,

-10-

A-10



NO. 68132-0-1/ 11

arising with respect to any acts, actions, omissions or events occurring prior to
July 1, 1996."

The “act” that gave rise to the Martins’ claims was the installation of a
defective component of the TM5, which occurred in 1981. From 1996 until 2008,
General Construction performed certain services “related to TM5 or in the area of
TM5 at the direction of Kimberly Clark.” But the Martins offer no evidence
showing that WSH or General Construction performed any work on or after July
1, 1996, that contributed to Mr. Martin's death. Therefore, General Construction
did not assume the liability, and the trial court properly granted summary
judgment on this claim and denied the Martins’ motion for reconsideration.
Statute of Limitations

The Martins also challenge the dismissal of their claims against FCCNA
based upon the three-year statute of limitations for personal injury actions, RCW
4.16.080(2). Mr. Martin's injuries occurred on August 13, 2004. The Martins filed
their original complaint on June 29, 2007, within the three-year limitation period,
but did not file their amended complaint joining FCCNA as a defendant until
January 22, 2010, well outside the three-year limitation period.

The Martins challenge the court's dismissal on three grounds: (1) the
claims did not accrue against FCCNA until the Martins discovered that FCCNA
was WSH's successor, (2) filing the initial summons and complaint and serving

11-
A-11
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the other defendants tolled the statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.170, and
(3) the amendment naming FCCNA relates back to the filing date of the original
complaint under CR 15(c) because the amendment merely corrected a misnomer
and FCCNA had actual notice of the complaint within the limitations period. We
affirm the dismissal and also the denial of the Martins’ motion for reconsideration.

The Martins assert that their claims against FCCNA did not accrue until
they discovered FCCNA's identity as a successor to WSH. They allege that they
first learned FCCNA was a successor in December 2009 when General
Construction filed a motion for summary judgment stating that FCCNA *had
succeeded the liabilities of WSH." The Martins argue that FCCNA's identity as a
successor to WSH was “obscure” because of “a series of complex and non-
public mergers and acquisitions over an extended period of time.”

The statute of limitations is an affirmative defense.'’ The party asserting
the defense—here, FCCNA—bears the burden of proving facts that establish it."?
In Washington, when a delay occurs between the time of an injury and the
plaintiff's discovery of that injury, the court may apply the discovery rule.”® This

rule tolls the date of accrual “until the plaintiff knows or, through the exercise of

"' Brown v. ProWest Transp. Ltd., 76 Wn. App. 412, 419, 886 P.2d 223
(1994) (citing Haslund v. City of Seattle, 86 Wn.2d 607, 620, 547 P.2d 1221
(1976)).

2 Brown, 76 Wn. App. at 419 (citing Haslund, 86 Wn.2d at 620-21).

'3 Giraud v. Quincy Farm & Chem., 102 Wn. App. 443, 449, 6 P.3d 104
(2000) (citing Crisman v. Crisman, 85 Wn. App. 15, 20, 931 P.2d 163 (1997)).

-12-
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due diligence, should have known all the facts necessary to establish a legal
claim.""* A plaintiff asserting this discovery rule must show that he or she could
not have discovered the relevant facts earlier.'® The jury determines whether the
plaintiff meets this burden, unless the facts are susceptible of only one
reasonable interpretation.'®

The Martins cite Orear v. International Paint Co." to support their

argument. But Orear was a products liability case where the connection between

the plaintiff's latent injury and the allegedly defective product was “difficult to
trace.”'® Here, the connection between the injury and its cause is clear.

in In re Estates of Hibbard,'® our Supreme Court held that the discovery

rule applies only to claims “in which the plaintiffs could not have immediately
known of their injuries due to professional malpractice, occupational diseases,
self-reporting or concealment of information by the defendant” and to “claims in

which plaintiffs could not immediately know of the cause of their injuries.”®

4 Giraud, 102 Wn. App. at 449 (citing Crisman, 85 Wn. App. at 20; Allen
v. State, 118 Wn.2d 753, 758, 826 P.2d 200 (1992)).

> Giraud, 102 Wn. App. at 449-50 (citing G.W. Constr. Corp. v. Profl
Serv. Indus., Inc., 70 Wn. App. 360, 367, 853 P.2d 484 (1993)).

'® Giraud, 102 Wn. App. at 450 (citing Goodman v. Goodman, 128 Wn.2d
366, 373, 907 P.2d 290 (1995)).

'7 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990).

'8 Orear, 59 Wn. App. at 256.

'9 118 Wn.2d 737, 749-50, 826 P.2d 690 (1992).

%0 schwindt v. Commonwealth Ins. Co., 94 Wn. App. 504, 509 n.10, 972
P.2d 570 (1999), rev'd on other grounds by 140 Wn.2d 348, 997 P.2d 353
(2000).

-13-
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Where Washington courts have applied the rule, the plaintiff has lacked the
means or ability to ascertain that a legal cause of action accrued.

FCCNA's identity as a successor was a matter of public record when the
Martins filed their initial complaint. Despite the Martins’ allegation that “[nJone of
the records refer[s] to WSH, let alone connect[s] the dots between WSH and
FCCNA,” an examination of the documents suggests otherwise. The record
contains the articles of incorporation of Wright Schuchart Inc., dated May 27,
1976, the articles of amendment changing name from Wright Schuchart Inc. to
Fietcher General Inc., dated March 1, 1993; and the articles of merger of Fletcher
General Inc. into Fletcher Construction Company North America, dated March

29, 2001. Additionally, an article published in The Seattle Times newspaper in

1993, as well as a page on General Construction's web site, describe WSH'’s
corporate history. Because the Martins were on inquiry notice that FCCNA was a
successor, we decline to apply the discovery rule and conclude that the Martins’
claim began to accrue from the time of Mr. Martin’s accident.

The Martins also argue that filing their initial complaint and summons and
serving the other defendants tolled the statute of limitations under RCW
4.16.170. Accordingly, the Martins claim, their amended complaint naming

FCCNA was timely.

-14-
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RCW 4.16.170 states, “For the purpose of tolling any statute of limitations
an action shall be deemed commenced when the complaint is filed or summons
is served whichever occurs first.” After filing the complaint, the plaintiff “shall
cause one or more of the defendants to be served personally, or commence
service by publication within ninety days.”

1

The Martins cite Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann. Inc.?' a case that involved

multiple defendants, to support their assertion. In Sidis, our Supreme Court held
that, under RCW 4.16.170, serving one named defendant tolls the statute of
limitations regarding any unserved named defendant.?? The Sidis court stated
that the case did not concern unnamed defendants.? In dictum, it noted that “in
some cases, if identified with reasonable particularity, ‘John Doe’ defendants
may be appropriately ‘named’ for purposes of RCW 4.16.170."2* The Martins
argue that we should apply the dictum in Sidis as law, asserting that lwai v.

State % a Division Three case, and Bresina v. Ace Paving Co.,?® a Division Two

decision, support this approach.

21 117 Wn.2d 325, 815 P.2d 781 (1991).

22 sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 329.

2 sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 331.

24 Sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 331.

2576 Wn. App. 308, 884 P.2d 936 (1994).
26 89 Wn. App. 277, 948 P.2d 870 (1997).

-15-
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In lwai, the court declined to extend the holding in Sidis to “unnamed ‘John

Doe' defendants,"’

and it did not explicitly discuss or cite the dictum in its
opinion. The court explained, “[E]ven in jurisdictions which permit a fictitious
name practice it is not universally held that the statute of limitations is tolled until
the true identity of the defendant is discovered.”?® Nonetheless, Division Three
concluded in |wai that a “broad designation of John Doe Defendants allegedly
‘negligent or otherwise responsible™ did not identify the later-named defendant
sufficiently to justify tolling the statute of limitations.”

In Bresina, the plaintiff served at least one named defendant before the
statute of limitations expired but filed an amended complaint substituting Ace
Paving for unnamed defendant “ABC Corporation” after it expired.* The court
stated that it was not clear whether lwai rejected the Sidis dictum or whether
Division Three “assumed the validity of the Sidis dictum while hoiding that its
requirements were not met by Iwai's description” of the unnamed defendant.®' In
Bresina, Division Two applied the latter approach and “assume[d] that a plaintiff

can toll the period for suing an unnamed defendant by timely filing and serving a

named defendant—if, but only if, the plaintiff identifies the unnamed defendant

27 \wai, 76 Wn. App. at 312.
28 |wai, 76 Wn. App. at 312 (quoting Mergenthaler v. Asbestos Corp. of
Am., 500 A.2d 1357, 1363 n.11 (Del. Super. Ct. 1985)).
29 \wai, 76 Wn. App. at 312.
% Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 279.
%' Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 281-82.
-16-
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with ‘reasonable particularity’ before the period for filing suit expires.”? The court
determined that the plaintiff's description of the unnamed defendant did not

"33 |t reasoned that the

identify the defendant with “reasonable particularity.
plaintiff could have obtained the name by proper investigation or by filing a
complaint and seeking discovery.* The court explained that a major factor in

determining “reasonable particularity” is

the nature of the plaintiffs opportunity to identify and accurately
name the unnamed defendant; if a plaintiff identifies a party as
“John Doe” or “ABC Corporation,” after having three years to
ascertain the party's true name, it will be difficult to say, at least in
the vast majority of cases, that the plaintiffs degree of particularity
was ‘reasonable.” *®

The plaintiff offered no reason for failing to obtain Ace Paving’s true name during
the limitations period.*® No published Division One decision has addressed this
issue.

The Martins argue that RCW 23B.11.060(1) “confirm[s] the identity of
interest between the merged corporation and its successor, so that following
merger, naming the merged corporation in a lawsuit is equivalent to describing
the surviving corporation with reasonable particularity.” They state that they “{do]

not seek to impose liability” under this statute but cite the law “to illustrate the

32 Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 282.
%3 Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 282.
> Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 282.
% Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 282.
% Bresina, 89 Wn. App. at 282.
17-
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identity of interest between a predecessor and successor corporation and how
the reasonable particularity standard of Sidis has been satisfied.”

Under RCW 23B.11.060(1)(d), when a merger takes effect, “[a]
proceeding pending against any corporation party to the merger may be
continued as if the merger did not occur or the surviving corporation may be
substituted in the proceeding for the corporation whose existence ceased.” This
statute allows a plaintiff's action against a defunct entity to continue if the lawsuit
was pending at the time of the merger. The Martins’ action was not pending at
the time of any merger. The most recent merger occurred in 2001, three years
before Mr. Martin’s death, when Fletcher General merged with FCCNA. The
Martins cite no authority demonstrating that identifying a defunct corporation well
after the statute of limitations expired, and long after a merger took place,
constitutes “reasonable particularity.”

Because the Martins neither named FCCNA as a defendant in the original
complaint nor served the company, serving the named defendants did not toll the
statute of limitations as to FCCNA. No court in Washington has explicitly stated
that the Sidis dictum is law or recognized the statute of limitations as being tolled
as to a defendant who is neither named in the complaint nor served within the
limitations period. The filing of the initial complaint did not toll the three-year
statute of limitations.

-18-
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The Martins also claim that their amended complaint naming FCCNA was
timely because the amendment related back to the date of the original complaint
for purposes of the statute of limitations under CR 15(c). When reviewing a trial
court’s determination of relation back, we look to whether the requirements of CR
15(c) have been met.*” “Some opinions do refer to abuse of discretion as the
standard for reviewing a decision under CR 15(c), probably because the issue
often arises in connection with a motion for leave to amend.”® This case does
not concern whether the court properly granted the Martins’ motion for leave to
amend its complaint.

CR 15(c) states, “Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended
pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or
attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to
the date of the original pleading.” When an amended complaint adds or
substitutes a new party, the amended complaint relates back to the date of the
original complaint if the party seeking to amend proves that it has satisfied three

conditions:* (1) the new party received notice of the institution of the action so

% Perrin v. Stensland, 158 Wn. App. 185, 193, 240 P.3d 1189 (2010).
38 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 192. The parties dispute the correct standard of
review.
¥ Segaline v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 467, 476-77, 238 P.3d
1107 (2010) (citing Foothills Dev. Co. v. Clark County Bd. of County Comm’rs, 46
Whn. App. 369, 375, 730 P.2d 1369 (1986)).
-19-
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that he or she will not be prejudiced in making a defense on the merits;*° (2) the
new party knew or should have known that but for a mistake concerning the
proper party’s identity, the plaintiff would have brought the action against him or

41

her;”" and (3) the plaintiffs delay in adding the new party was not due to

"42 L1

“‘inexcusable neglect. [lInexcusable neglect exists when no reason for the

initial failure to name the party appears in the record.”* It includes delay due to
“a conscious decision, strategic or tactic.”** Whether the party seeking to
amend its complaint satisfies these conditions is an issue of fact.*®

“CR 15(c) is to be liberally construed on the side of allowance of relation
back of an amendment that adds or substitutes a new party after the statute of

limitations has run, particularly where the opposing party will be put to no

disadvantage.”® But when applying CR 15(c), the court must protect the new

“0 Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 476-77 (citing CR 15(c)).

4! Seqaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477 (citing CR 15(c)).

2 Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477 (citing Stansfield v. Douglas County, 146
Wn.2d 116, 122, 43 P.3d 498 (2002)). “Adding a new party requires a showing
that it was not due to ‘inexcusable neglect’ because amendment of a complaint is
not intended to serve as a mechanism to circumvent or extend a statute of
limitations.” Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477 n.9.

43 Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477 (alteration in original) (internal quotation
marks omitted) (quoting Stansfield, 146 Wn.2d at 122).

44 Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477 (quoting Stansfield, 146 Wn.2d at 121).

3 Segaline, 169 Wn.2d at 477.

“6 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 194.

-20-
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defendant’s due process rights—"an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time
and in a meaningful manner.”’
Here, the parties do not dispute that the claims the Martins asserted in the

amended complaint arose out of the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence

set forth in the original pleading. The Martins cite Bailey v. Innovative

Management & Investment, Inc.*® and Mitchell v. CFC Financial LLC *° cases

outside this jurisdiction, to argue that their amended complaint related back
because the amendment did not add a new party but merely corrected a
misnomer.

The Martins filed the amended complaint approximately three years after
the statute of limitations expired. The trial court assumed the Martins could
establish that FCCNA received notice of the lawsuit on July 25, 2007, when
General Construction purportedly tendered defenses to Fletcher General.
General Construction tendered the defenses under the 1996 stock purchase
agreement, in which Fletcher General agreed to “defend, indemnify and hold

General harmless” from claims regarding excluded liabilities. The court noted,

47 pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Klickitat County v. Walbrook Ins. Co., 115 Wn.2d
339, 349, 797 P.2d 504 (1990) (citing Wilson v. Bd. of Governors, Wash. State
Bar Ass’n, 90 Wn.2d 649, 656, 585 P.2d 136 (1978)).
8890 S.W.2d 648 (Mo. 1994).
49230 F.R.D. 548 (E.D. Wis. 2005).
-21-
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however, that “the exhibit provided by Plaintiff in this regard was not properly
authenticated.”

The Martins provide no evidence to support the second condition—that
FCCNA knew or should have known that but for a mistake, it would have been
named in the original complaint. They contend that FCCNA “had at least
constructive knowledge that it was mistakenly omitted from the original
complaint” “based on naming . .. its predecessor WSH as a defendant in the
original complaint, the tender of defense by General Construction, and FCCNA's
forwarding the tender letter to its insurer.” But, as the trial court explained,
FCCNA argues that Wright Schuchart Harbor Joint Venture, an entity whose
assets and liabilities never merged with any Fletcher entity, performed the work
at issue. The Martins provide no evidence to rebut this assertion. Additionally,
FCCNA filed a certificate of dissolution in 2007. Therefore, FCCNA would have
no reason to know that it should have been named in the original complaint or
that it might be liable to the Martins for any damages.

Even if the Martins meet the first two conditions for relation back, they fail
to demonstrate excusable neglect. They compare this case to Perrin v.
Stensland,®® where the plaintiff named the deceased driver rather than the

driver's estate because he was unaware of the driver's death. Perrin concerned

50458 Wn. App. 185, 189, 194, 240 P.3d 1189 (2010).
-22.
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a claim of lack of due diligence in amending the complaint after learning the
correct party.®' The plaintiff served the driver's widow, who provided notice to
the insurer under the same policy as the driver.52 The court determined that the
estate was not prejudiced because it should have known that the plaintiff would
have named the estate but for the mistaken belief that the driver was still alive.>*
No evidence showed that Perrin “made a strategic choice to avoid naming the
estate."**

The Martins provide no evidence of actions that they took to determine the
correct parties before the statute of limitations expired or what information any
investigation revealed. As discussed above, the articles of amendment changing
the name of WSH to Fletcher General Inc., as well as the articles of merger of
Fletcher General Inc. into FCCNA, were public records available at the time that
the Martins filed their original pleading. FCCNA also points to a newspaper
article and a page on General Construction’s web site discussing the corporate
history of WSH. And, again, FCCNA dissolved in 2007. Our Supreme Court has

found inexcusable neglect when the party seeking to amend did not know the

additional party’s identity but could have discovered it from public records.®

5 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 188.
%2 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 188-89.
53 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 202.
%4 Perrin, 158 Wn. App. at 202.
% See Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 174-
75, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 (1987) (no excuse where omitted parties’
-23-
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Even if, as the Martins allege, there were a “series of complex and non-
public mergers and acquisitions over an extended period of time,” General
Construction filed its answer and third party complaint in October 2007, asserting
claims against third party defendants Fletcher General and Fletcher Pacific as
the correct successors in interest. General Construction’s third party claims
should have provided notice to the Martins of potential liability as to at least the
Fletcher entities that General Construction named. Instead, the Martins did not
file their first amended complaint until January 2010. Because the Martins do not
offer a persuasive reason for this delay, they fail to demonstrate excusable
neglect. Thus, the amendment does not relate back to the original pleading, and
the statute of limitations bars the Martins’ claims against FCCNA.

General Construction’'s Cross Appeals

General Construction raises three issues in its cross appeal. First, it
claims that the trial court erred in denying its first motion for summary judgment
contending that the Martins’ claims constituted an “excluded liability” under the
1996 stock purchase agreement. Second, it asserts that the trial court erred in
denying its motion for summary judgment arguing that the statute of repose

barred the Martins’ claims. Third, it challenges the trial court's denial of its

identity available from a variety of public sources); Tellinghuisen v. King County
Council, 103 Wn.2d 221, 224, 691 P.2d 575 (1984) (no excuse where omitted
parties’ identity was matter of public record); S. Hollywood Hills Citizens Ass'n v.
King County, 101 Wn.2d 68, 77-78, 677 P.2d 114 (1984) (same).

-24-
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motion for summary judgment contending that WSH was not liable under
Washington's product liability act, chapter 7.72 RCW.

A party can appeal only a final judgment.®® The denial of a summary
judgment “has no preclusive effect on further proceedings. . . . It does not end
proceedings, but rather permits them to proceed. The denial of a summary
judgment motion is not a final order that can be appealed.”” Therefore, we
decline to address the issues that General Construction raises in its cross
appeal.

CONCLUSION

Because the Martins fail to show that General Construction assumed

liability for their claims and fail to show that the trial court erred in its application

of the statute of limitations, we affirm.

Seaoo O
e

WE CONCUR:

oS e

% RAP 2.2(a).
 In_re Estate of Jones, 170 Wn. App. 594, 605, 287 P.3d 610 (2012)
(citing Zimny v. Lovric, 59 Wn. App. 737, 739, 801 P.2d 259 (1990); Roth v. Bell,
24 Wn. App. 92, 104, 600 P.2d 602 (1979)).
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NINA L. MARTIN, individually and NO. 68132-0-1
as Personal Representative of the
ESTATE OF DONALD R. MARTIN, DIVISION ONE
RUSSELL L. MARTIN, THADDEUS J.
MARTIN, and JANE MARTIN,
ORDER GRANTING MOTION

Appellant, TO PUBLISH OPINION

V.

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
DEMATIC dba/fka RAPISTAN, INC., )
MANNESMANN DEMATIC, and )
SIEMENS DEMATIC; GENERAL )
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, )
WRIGHT SCHUCHART HARBOR )
COMPANY, WRIGHT SCHUCHART, )
INC.; FLETCHER GENERAL, INC., )
and FLETCHER CONSTRUCTION )
COMPANY NORTH AMERICA and )
FLETCHER BUILDING, LTD., )
)

)

)

Respondents.

Respondent General Construction Company having filed a motion to publish
opinion, and appellant Nina L. Martin, individually and as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Donald R. Martin, Russell L. Martin, Thaddeus J. Martin, and Jane Martin,
having filed a joinder in the motion to publish opinion, and the hearing panel having
reconsidered its prior determination and finding that the opinion will be of precedential

value; now, therefore it is hereby

A-26



ORDERED that the unpublished opinion filed October 14, 2013, shall be
published and printed in the Washington Appellaté Reports.

1
DATED this qﬂ day of

WAL~ 2014
U

FOR THE COURT:

Lok C. /

Judge (¢
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Michael P. Grace
Direct Diol; (206) 832-1475
E-Moll: mgrace@grofimuiphy.com

July 24, 2007

Via Facsimile (64 9 525 9205) and
Via Federal Express (64 9 525 9000)

Mr. Malcolm Hope

Fletcher General, Inc.

¢/o The Fletcher Construction Company Limited
585 Great South Road, Penrose

Private Bag 92114

Auckland, New Zealand

Re:  Estate of Donald L. Martin, et. al. v. General Construction
Company dba/fka Wright Schuchart Harbor Company

NOTICE AND TENDER OF CLAIM AND DEMAND FOR
DEFENSE AND INDEMNITY

Dear Mr. Hope:

We represcnt General Construction Company (“General™). As you know, GC Investment
Co. purchascd the stock of General Construction from Fletcher General, Inc. (“Fletcher”) on or
about October 17, 1996 pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (“the Agreement”). We write
this letter to you in your capacity as the person to be notified of all matters in connection with the
Agreement pursuant to Article 12.01 of the same. We have also copied your counsel, Mr.
Kenneth R. Kupchak, as set forth in the Agreement.

General was recently named as a defendant in a lawsuit for personal injury and wrongful
death entitled Nina L. Martin, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of
Donald Martin, et. al. v. Harris Waste Management Group, Inc., et. al. Snohomish County,
Washington Superior Court Cause No. 07 2 05566 3. A copy of the Complaint is enclosed for
your reference. The Martin Plaintiffs allege “On or about August 13, 2004, Donald Martin was
fatally injured when he was caught in a nip point between a dipping conveyor and a chute while
working for his employer Kimberly Clark at its paper products plant in Everett, Washington.”
See Complaint, §2.1. ’

We refer you to §§ 3.10-3.12 of the Complaint, in which Plaintiffs state allegations
against “General Construction dba/fka Wright Schuchart Harbor Company.” In particular,

GROFF MURPHY, PlLC
300 CAST PINE STREET SCATTLE WASHINGTON 98122
(206) 628-9500 www groffmurphy.com (206) 628-9506 FACSIMILC
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Mr. Malcolm Hope
Juiy 24, 2007
Page 2

Plaintiffs allege in § 3.10 that “General Construction Company, dba/fka Wright Schuchart
Harbor Company was a commercial product manufacturer and seller which designed,
manufactured, supplied, marketed, installed and/or sold under its corporate brand name and/or
logo the dipping conveyor, chute and/or component parts of these products which caused Donald
Martin's fatal injuries.” :

Our investigation of the claim to date indicates that the subject equipment may have been
installed sometime around 1980, perhaps by Wright Schuchart Harbor Company. In tum, the
Agreement provides that “all obligations or liabilities of the Business, Sellcr, or any of its
Affiliates of any nature whatsoever, arising with respect to any acts, actions, omissions or events
occurring prior to July 1, 1996" are considered “Excluded Liabilities.” See pp. 5-6. The Martin
claim thercfore constitutes an “Excluded Liability™ per the terms of the Stock Purchase
Apgreement,

The Stock Purchase Agreement further provides that Fletcher shall defend, indemnify and
hold General harmless from “any and all damage, loss, liability and expense (including without
limitation reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys fees and expenses in
connection with any action, suit or proceeding). .. with respect to any of the Excluded
Liabilities.” See Article 10.02.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Stock Purchase Agreement, General hereby
tenders the Marrin claim to Fletcher and demands that Fletcher immediately defend and
indemnify General against all resulting liability, damages, costs, loss and expense. Pleasc be
advised that until such time as Fletcher accepts this tender and agrees to provide a defense and
indemnity, General will continue to incur attorney fees, costs and expenses, and will look to
Fleicher for the same.

We look forward lo your prompt response. Thank you.
Very truly yours,
GROFF M Y,PLLC

Michael] P. Grace
MPG:smd
Enclosure
"oce Jim Schneider
Gregg Woodward
Kenneth R. Kupchak

10119 0032 k9232701 -
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FLETCHER CONSYRUCTION ™ («l
NORTH AMERICA .
P. 0. Box 2353 : .
Issaquah, WA 98027-0106

Telephone: (425) 641-3012
November 28, 2007 via Regular Mail

See Distnbution list

Re:  Insured: Wright Schuchart, Inc., et al
Policy#: sce the attached
Period: © 1962-1995
Claimant: Donald L. Martin
Estate of Donald L. Martin, et. al. v. General Construction
Company dba/fka Wright Schuchart Harbor Company

Dear Sir or Madam:

‘Echloscd is a copy of a tender from General Construction Company to Fletcher General,
c, on the above captioned matter. Fletcher General, Inc. was merged into Fletcher

Construction Company North America in 2001. '

Fletcher Construction Company North America is the successor to the former General

Construction Company(the company changed its name to Fletcher General, Inc.), Wright

Schuchart, Inc. and Wright Schuchart Harbor.

This is our tender to you on this action. We ask that you promptly acknowledge receipt

of these documents and that you advise us if the tender of defense is accepted

Very Truly Yours,

Ronald A. Johnson, -
Secretary

exnibtt __(85 pate L/29115
Witness m

Wada J. Johnson 323-0918

DEC 0 3 2007
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Wright Schuchart Harbor
Insurees Distribution List

Safeco Insurance

Specialized Commercial Liability Claims
P. O. Box 66769 :

St. Louis, MO 631666769

Industrial Indemnity(Crum & Forster)
Riverstone Claims Managemeat LLC
250 Commercial Street, Suite 5000
Manchester, NH 03101

Travelers Insurance (St. Paul)
111 Schilling Road, E-1068

- Hunt Valley, MD 21031

‘Wausau Insurance
11800 West Park Place
Milwaulcee, WT 53224-3009

FRREPRCRRE 15 3h
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